STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Williamsburg County  
R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

AUG 29 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LOU ANN ROBINSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000293

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether, pursuant to section 16-25-90 of the South Carolina Code, appellant presented a sufficient history that she was a victim of domestic violence when she testified to multiple instances of physical and mental abuse, her friend testified regarding two instances of physical violence and other mental abuse, and an expert witness testified that appellant was a battered woman?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 6, 2009, appellant was indicted by a Williamsburg County grand jury for murder, voluntary manslaughter, and a related weapons charge. R. 656. On December 14, 2009, appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran and a jury. R. 1. Kimberly V. Barr and Ronnie A. Sabb represented the State. R. 1. William E. Jenkinson, III, and Samuel L. Floyd represented appellant. R. 1. The jury acquitted appellant of murder. R. 597, ll. 2 – 4. The jury convicted appellant of voluntary manslaughter and the weapons charge. R. 597, ll. 5 – 9. Judge Cothran sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of twelve years' imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter and five years' imprisonment on the weapons charge. R. 606, ll. 4 – 8.

On October 24, 2012, this Court affirmed appellant's convictions, but remanded the case "for a determination of whether [appellant] presented a preponderance of evidence showing she suffered criminal domestic violence inflicted by the victim." R. 647; *State v. Robinson*, No. 2012-UP-574 (Ct. App. Oct. 24, 2012). On December 20, 2012, Judge Cothran held a hearing pursuant to this Court's remand. R. 607. On January 25, 2013, Judge Cothran issued an order finding that appellant was not entitled to early parole eligibility because she had not proved that she was a victim of a history of criminal domestic violence. R. 650. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

Appellant is eligible for early parole pursuant to section 16-25-90 of the South Carolina Code because she presented a sufficient history that she was a victim of domestic violence when she testified to multiple instances of physical and mental abuse, her friend testified regarding two instances of physical violence and other mental abuse, and an expert witness testified that appellant was a battered woman.

### **Relevant Facts**

#### *Robinson and Dunmore's Relationship*

Defendant Lou Ann Robinson ("Robinson") testified in her own defense. Robinson grew up in Philadelphia and after a year of college, worked primarily in the medical technology field. R. 391, ll. 3 – 17. She was fifty-six years old at the time of trial. R. 389, ll. 15 – 16. She moved to South Carolina in 2004 to take care of her elderly mother. R. 394, ll. 2 – 15. Robinson's mother was eighty-three years old, in poor health, and her mind was failing. R. 389, l. 23 – 390, l. 10.

Between her arrest and the trial, Robinson suffered a stroke. R. 392, ll. 5 – 7. The stroke affected her writing, speech, and memory. R. 392, ll. 8 – 14. It caused her problems communicating her thoughts and trouble remembering dates. R. 392, ll. 8 – 14. R. 395, ll. 4 – 7. She also had problems hearing. R. 392, ll. 1 – 4. One of Robinson's two children was murdered in Philadelphia in the early 1990s, causing her to seek treatment for mental health issues. R. 392, l. 18 – 393, l. 12. Robinson did not have a driver's license and had no transportation. R. 390, ll. 14 – 21.

Robinson began dating the decedent, Willie Dunmore ("Dunmore"), after she moved to South Carolina. R. 394, ll. 16 – 20. Dunmore moved in with Robinson and her

mother. R. 394, l. 21 – 395, l. 3. Six months after Dunmore moved in, their relationship soured. R. 395, ll. 20 – 22. They had “a lot of arguments.” R. 396, ll. 6 – 7. He paid no household bills. R. 461, ll. 18 – 22. Dunmore was jealous and controlling. R. 396, ll. 8 – ll. He listened in on Robinson’s telephone calls and recorded some of them. R. 397, ll. 8 – 12. He would take the telephone away from her when she would make calls. R. 398, l. 24 – 399, l. 2. Dunmore was fired from his job in November 2006 and began drinking more heavily.<sup>1</sup> R. 410, l. 13 – 411, 411, l. 3.

Dunmore was significantly larger than Robinson. Dunmore was 6’2” tall and weighed 203 pounds. R. 452, ll. 17 – 20. Robinson was only 5’4” and weighed 135 pounds. R. 452, l. 25, - 453, l. 3. Robinson was eleven years older than Dunmore. She was 54 years old and he was 42. R. 452, l. 23 – 453, l. 3.

Dunmore physically abused Robinson during his drinking binges. R. 395, l. 23 – 396, l. 3. He slapped Robinson in her face, sometimes “for no reason at all.” R. 411, ll. 6 – 10. R. 396, ll. 2 – 5. She called the police once, but Dunmore left. R. 411, ll. 13 – 14. Robinson recalled a particular incident when Dunmore became violently jealous at a bar. R. 399, l. 8 – 401, l. 12. Dunmore grew angry when a man approached her and began “throwing his hands up and pushing chairs.” R. 399, l. 8 – 401, l. 12. They left and on the way home, Dunmore was “fussing” and “driving very wild,” frightening Robinson. R. 399,

---

<sup>1</sup> The State objected when defense counsel asked Robinson why Dunmore was fired. R. 405, ll. 11 – 14. Judge Cothran excused the jury. R. 405, l. 14. Robinson proffered that Dunmore was fired because of his drinking. R. 405, ll. 21 – 22. After a colloquy about whether Robinson could testify as to the cause of Dunmore’s dismissal, the trial judge stated, “**I’m not real sure any of this matters. You all—in my opinion, this drinking has nothing to do with the case. I don’t think the jury will think so either, but that is just my opinion. She has testified about a drinking problem he had and all of this, but you all are trying the case. I think you all are beating this to death.**” R. 409, ll. 15 – 23 (emphasis added).

l. 8 – 401, l. 12. When they got home, Robinson tried to take his keys and Dunmore gave her a black eye. R. 399, l. 8 – 401, l. 12. She “put up with” the abuse because she was “always scared.” R. 396, ll. 17 – 19. Despite this, she claimed at trial that she was still in love with Dunmore. R. 396, ll. 20 – 23.

Dunmore would threaten Robinson with a shotgun he kept beside his bed. R. 401, l. 25 – 402, l. 9. He kept shells in the bedroom. R. 401, l. 25 – 402, l. 9. After the incident at the bar, he threatened to get the shotgun. R. 401, ll. 15 – 24. Despite threats with the gun, he did not point it at Robinson until the fight that led to his death. R. 403, ll. 9 – 17.

*Robinson’s Friend Witnesses Dunmore’s Abuse*

Josephine Mouzon (“Mouzon”) was Robinson’s only friend in South Carolina. R. 361, ll. 24 – 25. R. 368, ll. 12 – 14. Mouzon and Robinson became friends after Robinson moved to South Carolina to take care of her sick mother. R. 362, l. 1 – 364, l. 12. She often saw Robinson and Dunmore socially since she was dating Dunmore’s first cousin. R. 362, l. 20 – 364, l. 17. She had known Dunmore for a long time. R. 362, ll. 15 – 21. Mouzon had to see less of Robinson because it caused a problem with Dunmore. R. 366, l. 4 – 367, l. 15. Dunmore did not “want nobody to be around them.” R. 366, ll. 4 – 13. Dunmore’s desire to keep people away even applied to “a friend like” Mouzon. R. 368, ll. 1 – 3.

Mouzon was not allowed to go to Robinson’s house to socialize because “it was always causing problems.” R. 367, ll. 11 – 15. She described Dunmore and Robinson as “always . . . arguing or something.” R. 367, ll. 11 – 15. She witnessed the arguments and did not understand what was happening to her friends. R. 367, ll. 16 – 24. She had to stop calling Robinson because it would anger Dunmore. R. 368, ll. 4 – 9. Dunmore became

more controlling of Robinson. R. 369, ll. 10 – 17. Robinson was afraid of Dunmore. R. 382, ll. 3 – 10.

Robinson had no way to leave her house. R. 370, ll. 10 – 11. She had no transportation. R. 370, ll. 12 – 13. If Robinson wanted to go somewhere, she had to call Mouzon. R. 368, ll. 17 – 20. Mouzon worked collecting change from pool tables and sometimes Robinson would accompany her. R. 369, ll. 1 – 5. R. 386, ll. 13 – 20. Mouzon would take her grocery shopping and for rides. R. 368, ll. 21 – 25.

Robinson's trips with Mouzon angered Dunmore to the point where he became violent. R. 369, ll. 6 – 9. Mouzon recalled Dunmore's violence on a day when she picked up Robinson from her house and Dunmore blocked them in the driveway. R. 370, ll. 6 – 25. He tried to make Robinson get out of Mouzon's car. R. 369, ll. 18 – 22. Robinson did not want to get out and Mouzon drove around Dunmore. R. 370, l. 15 – 371, l. 3. Mouzon described what happened next:

Then [Dunmore] came over to my house and Lester [Dunmore's cousin] was there, and he was outside talking to Lester, and before Lester came up and [Robinson] was getting out of the car he hit her up side the house—up side the head and I told her to go on in the house.

Q. Did he hit her hard?

A. Yeah, he hit her hard.

Q. Okay, Which part of her body did he hit?

A. Up side the head.

R. 371, ll. 4 – 12. Mouzon intervened and told Dunmore “he had no right to hit her” and there would be no fights at her house. R. 371, ll. 14 – 16. Robinson then went back outside and, after talking to Dunmore, asked Mouzon to take her home. R. 371, ll. 14 – 22. Robinson was afraid. R. 373, ll. 1 – 16.

Mouzon witnessed Dunmore physically abuse Robinson on another occasion R. 374, l. 17, - 376, l. 1. Robinson and her mother came to Mouzon's house. R. 374, l. 17, - 376, l. 1. Dunmore knocked on the door and came in the room. R. 374, l. 17, - 376, l. 1. He told Robinson "let's go" and when she got up to leave, Dunmore pushed her so hard that she stumbled. R. 375, ll. 2 – 11. Robinson told Dunmore not to "touch me again." R. 375, ll. 2 – 11.

On the night of the incident, Robinson called Mouzon and asked if she could have a ride to the store. R. 376, ll. 2 – 23. She called between 6:30 – 7:00 PM. R. 376, ll. 2 – 5. Mouzon gave Robinson a ride to the store and then took her home. R. 376, l. 19 – 377, l. 4. Later that night, Dunmore dropped Mouzon's boyfriend (Lester) off at her house. R. 377, l. 5 – 378 l. 20. Mouzon's boyfriend had been drinking. R. 378, ll. 11 – 15.

#### The Fight

That fight that led to Dunmore's death began after Dunmore returned home from a day of drinking at a barbeque. R. 413, ll. 11 – 12. R. 415, ll. 2 – 4. R. 233, ll. 11 – 13. Dunmore's blood alcohol level at the time of his autopsy was 0.156. R. 284, ll. 21 – 25. Dunmore began drinking gin early that morning, even before leaving for the barbeque. R. 413, l. 6 – 414, l. 19. Robinson was in her bedroom cooking because it was too cold in her kitchen. R. 415, ll. 13 – 24. She briefly left that house that evening to go to the store. R. 417, ll. 1 – 18. When Dunmore arrived, he strode into the bedroom, told Robinson that she did not answer the phone when he called, then "slapped [her] to the floor." R. 420, ll. 4 – 8. Robinson described Dunmore as "mad" and "crazed-like." R. 421, ll. 1 – 4.

Robinson tried to get up from the floor. R. 423, ll. 16 – 24. Dunmore had a pocket knife that she had never seen before. R. 423, ll. 16 – 24. R. 424, ll. 2 – 5. He told

Robinson, "I'm going to cut you up." R. 423, ll. 16 – 24. He waved the knife. R. 424, ll. 8 – 10. He cut Robinson across the chest. R. 424, ll. 11 – 13. R. 475, l. 24 – 476, l. 11. R. 461, ll. 1 – 25. She grabbed a small knife and Dunmore shoved her to the ground again. R. 424, ll. 14 – 24.

Dunmore got his shotgun. R. 425, ll. 4 – 9. He pointed it at Robinson's stomach and hit her on her leg and arm. R. 425, ll. 10 – 19. His finger was on the trigger. R. 425, ll. 20 – 22. He pointed the gun at her legs and arms. R. 426, ll. 4 – 13. Robinson was still on the floor with Dunmore on top of her. R. 426, ll. 9 – 18. She "was trying to get him to move but he wouldn't." R. 426, l. 23 – 427, l. 2. She was "juggling" the knife at Dunmore and did not know she stabbed him. R. 427, ll. 1 – 16. Dunmore stopped, put the gun down, and walked out the door. R. 428, ll. 9 – 21. She locked the door behind Dunmore as he got in his car and drove away. R. 428, l. 22 – 429, l. 13.

Dunmore then called the house. R. 430, ll. 12 – 22. He threatened Robinson, saying, "I'm going to get you." R. 430, ll. 21 – 22. She took the gun and knife and threw them in the woods. R. 430, l. 23 – 431, l. 3. She was afraid of Dunmore returning to attack her again. R. 432, ll. 14 – 19. She did not call the police, but voluntarily went with them when they came to her house. R. 432, l. 20 – 435, l. 13. Robinson gave the police a statement recounting the events of the fight before she knew Dunmore was dead. R. 433, l. 19 – 440, l. 5. She admitted she told the police that Dunmore threw the shotgun in the yard. R. 437, ll. 12 – 19. However, there was never any evidence that the shotgun was used or fired by any person that evening.

### The Police Investigation

Scott King was a sheriff's deputy and emergency medical technician. R. 19, l. 17 – 20, l. 23. He responded to a call for a motor vehicle accident. R. 22, ll. 11 – 15. Dunmore was laying in the grass near his truck. R. 23, ll. 19 – 20. The accident site was approximately one mile from Robinson's house. R. 258, ll. 8 – 13. King found a stab wound in Dunmore's chest. R. 26, ll. 10 – 19. King asked Dunmore what happened and he replied, "My girlfriend." R. 39, ll. 2 – 4. Dunmore did not elaborate on how he received the wound. R. 46, l. 4 – 47, l. 22. Dunmore did not accuse Robinson of a crime. R. 46, l. 4 – 47, l. 22. Dunmore died from a single stab wound, which pierced his heart. R. 281, ll. 4 – 16. The State's pathologist testified that most murder cases involve multiple stab wounds. R. 300, ll. 3 – 25.

The night of Dunmore's death, the crime scene investigator found an unloaded shotgun in a field beside Robinson's yard. R. 97, l. 5 – 99, l. 1. It looked like it had blood on it. R. 99, ll. 2 – 12. The police never tested the blood found on the shotgun. R. 190, l. 20 – 191, l. 6. Subsequently, a steak knife was found in the same field near where the shotgun had been found. R. 100, l. 5 – 101, l. 8. A large butcher knife was found in Robinson's bedroom. R. 101, ll. 12 – 24. Among the items inventoried by the hospital after Dunmore's death was a pocket knife. R. 80, ll. 5 – 7. This pocket knife was collected by Dunmore's brother. R. 80, ll. 5 – 7. Even though this knife was an important piece of evidence, it was not processed by the police. R. 124, ll. 3 – 25.

Also found in the bedroom were a female's bloodstained shirt and shotgun shells. R. 103, l. 3 – 104, l. 25. R. 130, l. 15 – 131, l. 10. The shotgun shells were on Dunmore's side

of the bed. R. 131, ll. 1 – 10. The police found Coors Light cans and a pint of alcohol in the bedroom. R. 169, ll. 3 – 7.

A small blood trail led from the bedroom to the carport. R. 107, ll. 12 – 17. No wounds were seen by the crime scene investigator on Dunmore's hands. R. 120, ll. 9 – 15. The police failed to test the steak knife and the butcher knife for blood. R. 198, ll. 2 – 15. Neither the police nor the pathologist knew which of the three knives inflicted the fatal wound to Dunmore. R. 269, ll. 15 – 20. R. 320, ll. 3 – 20.

Willie Brown ("Brown") was an investigator assigned to the case. R. 154, ll. 17 – 19. He made contact with Robinson shortly before 12:30 AM. R. 157, ll. 18 – 22. Robinson initially did not answer the door and denied she lived there when Brown called from his cell phone. R. 158, l. 7 – 161, l. 15. However, it was very late at night and no lights were on in the house. R. 220, ll. 13 – 14. Brown recalled Robinson having a bruise and a fresh, deep scratch across her chest that could have been made with a knife. R. 202, ll. 1 – 25.

Brown testified regarding his experience in domestic abuse cases. He had received training regarding domestic violence. R. 204, ll. 11 – 18. He testified that abusive husbands are typically "control freaks" who prevent women from leaving the house or having friends. R. 208, ll. 10 – 25. Another investigator testified that African-American women are the most frequent victims of domestic violence. R. 264, l. 23 – 265, l. 2.

Brown testified that his department had not received any domestic violence calls from Robinson about Dunmore. R. 211, ll. 9 – 16. Neither Dunmore nor Robinson called 911 on the night of the incident. R. 211, ll. 17 – 23.

*The Expert Testimony of Dr Lois Veronen*

Dr. Lois Veronen (“Veronen”) is a clinical psychologist and part-time professor at Winthrop University. R. 486, ll. 4 – 5. The trial court qualified Veronen as an expert in the field of battered woman syndrome. R. 491, ll. 14 – 19. Veronen saw Robinson three times. R. 491, ll. 24 – 25. Veronen administered psychological and language tests to Robinson. R. 493, ll. 3 – 15. She spent a total of 18.5 hours with Robinson. R. 492, ll. 17 – 19.

Veronen's testing revealed that Robinson was “a very impaired individual.” R. 512, ll. 7 – 8. Even though Robinson finished high school and one year of college, at the time of Veronen's assessment of her intellectual functioning “she was considered to be borderline intelligence.” R. 511, lines 6 – 11. She found severe deficits in functioning regarding Robinson's memory and attention. R. 511, lines 12 – 24. Veronen attributed these deficits in part to Robinson's stroke. R.510, line 23 – 297, l. 10. Veronen’s testing did not show that Robinson was malingering or faking her responses. R. 530, ll. 2 – 21.

Veronen testified that one type of abuse was controlling a woman's activities. R. 498, ll. 19 – 25. Abusive men often restrict a victim’s access to friends, family, or other persons. R. 498, ll. 20 – 22.

Veronen examined Robinson’s mental health records from Philadelphia. R. 499, ll. 10 – 13. Robinson had “a history of trauma and mental health problems.” R. 499, ll. 14 – 20. The murder of her son and a prior violent relationship caused Robinson to suffer from post-traumatic stress disorder and depression. R. 502, l. 6 – 504, l. 19. Veronen testified that Robinson was suffering from these conditions at the time of the incident. R. 504, ll. 11 – 19. Veronen opined that Robinson was desensitized to her violent situation. R. 504, l. 20 – 505, l. 11. Robinson suffered from depersonalization. R. 506, l. 13 – 507, l. 6.

Importantly, Veronen examined Robinson's medical records. R. 499, l. 23 – 500, l. 4. These records confirmed that Robinson had been evaluated in July 2008 and found that she suffered a stroke. R. 499, l. 23 – 500, l. 4. Veronen testified that Robinson "had a scan which confirmed that she had the stroke, an infarct in the left hemisphere." R. 500, ll. 2 – 4. This portion of the brain is very important to language and damage in that area affects language, memory, and attention. R. 501, ll. 10 – 24.

Veronen testified that in her opinion, Robinson "was definitely a battered woman in December of 2006." R. 508, lines 7 – 12. Veronen specifically testified about the effect of abuse on a battered woman's memory:

Q. Did [Robinson] have difficulty in explaining to you how the stabbing occurred?

A. There was difficulty with her trying to explain what happened, yes. Great difficulty.

Q. Would a battered woman have difficulty in explaining these sorts of things?

A. Battered women often have difficulty because at the same time they may be so emotionally aroused or just fearful or anxious that the memory does not work as well to take the steps to take them into stored memory. They can't put them into memory.

Sometimes they have to – sometimes parts of it is recovered and established but sometimes they can't do that.

About 1982 there was research about interviewing victims by the Criminal Justice System, and in that particular setting I said that, you know, you cannot use immediate statements as indications of what has happened.

The research has found out later that sometimes some of the memory gets recovered later on, but sometimes it doesn't, and there are spaces in the memory, a partial amnesia, and reactions are extremely difficult.

Q. Can you tell us whether or not you saw that in her statements to you about what happened?

A. Yes, I did.

R. 508, l. 23 – 509, l. 21.

*Testimony of the Other Defense Witnesses*

Mary Ross was a former nurse and went to see Robinson at the jail on December 28, 2006. R. 545, lines 12 – 16. She saw bruises and cuts on Robinson. R. 545, ll. 17 – 19. She saw a bruise on Robinson's right forearm, a healing laceration on her upper left chest, a swollen area on her foot, and a bruise on her left wrist. R. 546, l. 6 – 547, l. 3.

Officer Danny McRae worked for the Kingstree Police Department and testified for the defense. R. 552, ll. 12 – 22. Officer McRae was with Dunmore when he died. R. 560, ll. 11 – 16. Even though Dunmore was lucid, Dunmore refused to tell Officer McRae what happened to him and how he had been injured. R. 559, l. 6 – 560, l. 10. Officer McRae said, “there was nothing to keep [Dunmore] from telling me, but he just chose not to tell me.” R. 560, ll. 9 – 10.

*The Close of the Trial*

At the charge conference, the defendant asked the trial court not to charge the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 588, ll. 9 – 25. The State asked the trial judge to charge voluntary manslaughter. R. 588, ll. 22 – 25. During deliberations, the jury asked for a definition of voluntary manslaughter. R. 591, ll. 13 – 18. The jury reached a verdict an hour after recharge. R. 596, ll. 5 – 6.

At sentencing, Robinson asked for a finding pursuant to section 16 – 5 – 90 of the South Carolina code that she had suffered a history of domestic violence and was entitled to early parole eligibility. R. 602, ll. 5 – 14. The trial judge said, “In this case, outside of one witness and the testimony of your client, the Defendant, there is no history of domestic violence.” R. 603, ll. 11 – 13. The judge then found that the decision regarding parole eligibility was for the parole board, an error which resulted in the remand from this Court. R. 604, l. 24 – 605, l. 18.

### **Discussion**

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