ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Williamsburg County
Hon. R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2013-000293

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Lou Ann Robinson,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

EARNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 04 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Williamsburg County
Hon. R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr , Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The circuit court did not err in finding Appellant was not entitled to early parole eligibility under section 16-25-90 of the South Carolina Code because she failed to prove she was the victim of a history of domestic violence by a preponderance of the evidence.**

The circuit court did not err in finding section 16-25-90 was inapplicable under the facts of this case. Respondent failed to present “credible evidence of a history of criminal domestic violence” suffered at the hands of her boyfriend, Willie Dunmore. The trial court made specific findings the evidence presented lacked credibility. Additionally, the court found Appellant failed to establish evidentiary support for a finding of a history of domestic abuse. Further, had the trial court applied section 16-25-90 as Appellant sought, the application of the statute would have run contrary to the legislative intent.

In criminal cases, the appellate court reviews errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). In reviewing the trial court, the appellate court is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless an abuse of discretion is shown. State v. Laney, 367 S C 639, 643–44, 627 S.E.2d 726, 729 (2006). Additionally, “[t]he trial judge is in a superior position to judge credibility and great deference must be given the judge’s determination.” State v. Asbury, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997); see also, Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993) (“We give great deference to a judge’s findings where matters of credibility are involved since we lack the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses.”). A trial court abuses its power of discretion when it commits an error of law or when there has been a factual conclusion without any evidentiary support State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006).

The statute at issue is section 16-25-90 of the South Carolina Code, providing:

[A]n inmate who was convicted of, or pled guilty or nolo contendere to, an offense against a household member is eligible for parole after serving one fourth of his prison term when the inmate at the time he pled guilty to . . . an offense against the household member, . . . presented credible evidence of a history of criminal domestic violence, as provided in Section 16-25-20, suffered at the hands of the household member.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-90 (Supp. 2010).

Section 16-25-20 of the South Carolina Code (Supp.2010) states: “It is unlawful to: (1) cause physical harm or injury to a person’s own household member, (2) offer or attempt to cause physical harm or injury to a person’s own household member with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril.” “Household member” includes “(1) a spouse; (2) a former spouse; (3) persons who have a child in common, or (4) a male and female who are cohabiting or formerly have cohabited.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-10 (Supp. 2010).

There is very little case law in South Carolina interpreting this statute. In *State v. Grooms*, this Court found: “Use of the term ‘credible evidence’ indicates the legislature intended the defendant’s evidence to be, in fact, trustworthy, not simply plausible.” *State v. Grooms*, 343 S.C. 248, 253, 540 S.E.2d 99, 101 (2000). Finally, the Court found the burden of proof is on the defendant to prove the history of criminal domestic violence by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* at 253-253; 540 S.E.2d at 102.

Another case where the statute was addressed was *State v. Blackwell-Selim*, in which this Court found: “The circuit court must make specific findings in ruling on parole eligibility or ineligibility under § 16-25-90.” *State v. Blackwell-Selim*, 392 S.C. 1, 4, 707 S.E.2d 426, 428 (2011).

In State v. Hawes, 399 S.C. 211, 730 S.E.2d 904 (2012), this Court dealt with the applicability of § 16-25-90. The Court took note of the ruling in Blackwell-Selim and observed that the Court was not permitted to reverse the circuit court's factual findings when there was evidence to support them. Hawes, 399 S.C. at 218, 730 S.E.2d at 907-908. The Court went on to affirm the ruling of the circuit court; finding that there was no abuse of discretion, as the record contained ample evidence to support the circuit court's factual findings. Id. at 220, 730 S.E.2d at 908

Abuse of Discretion

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in finding the evidence of abuse presented by Appellant was not credible and not sufficient to meet her burden under section 16-25-90. Appellant specifically argues the combined testimony of Mouzon, Appellant, and Dr. Veronen establish a history of domestic violence. There is ample evidence to support the circuit court's findings regarding the credibility of the witnesses as well as the court's ultimate conclusion Appellant failed to prove her entitlement to application of section 16-25-90 by a preponderance of the evidence.

The circuit court concludes its Order by finding:

However, there was not enough credible evidence presented, as stated in this Factual Finding, that shows Ms. Robinson suffered from a history of domestic violence at the hands of Mr. Dunmore. The Court hereby finds, that the testimony of each individual when considered independently or as a whole insufficient to find a history of domestic violence by the preponderance of the evidence. The finding of a lack of history of domestic violence by this Court does not condone any instance of domestic violence. However, the standard set in Hawes to trigger section 16-25-90 is not met based on the testimony presented at trial

(Circuit court order p 6, R. 655).

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in concluding that the combined testimony of Appellant, Mouzon, and Dr. Veronen did not satisfy the statutory requirements for early parole eligibility. The trial judge's factual conclusion that Appellant was not entitled to early parole eligibility pursuant to section 16-25-90 was supported by the evidence in the case.

The circuit court found Appellant presented testimony regarding domestic violence; however, the court found the evidence lacks credibility. In the Order, the circuit court noted some of the inconsistencies in Appellant's testimony. The circuit court noted Appellant testified she called 9-1-1 on Mr. Dunmore; however, she quickly recanted her story when impeached by the State with the fact that there were no 9-1-1 records of her having called. The court also took note of the lie Appellant initially told law enforcement regarding who threw the shotgun into the woods. The court also placed emphasis on the fact Appellant contended she had copies of recorded phone conversations with Dunmore, but later failed to deliver them.

The Court also specifically identified Appellant's memory problem as a major factor in absence of credibility as a witness. Dr. Veronen testified ninety-nine percent of the population was better at retaining memory than Appellant. Appellant's memory deficiencies were highlighted at trial by her own admission regarding memory issues, and also by Appellant's inability to recall details of her relationship with Dunmore. All the above contributed to the circuit court's conclusion Appellant's testimony lacked the credibility necessary to prove a history of domestic violence by a preponderance of the evidence as required by section 16-25-90.

Appellant's testimony was wrought with inconsistencies; Appellant lied to law enforcement; and Appellant, according to Dr. Veronen, was in a prior difficult relationship and had trouble separating the two. Appellant argues that the trial judge's findings regarding Appellant's lack of credibility contains a glaring omission in the reasoning because the trial judge failed to recognize the impact of Appellant's stroke. The fact Appellant's memory deficits are the result of a stroke does not change the fact Appellant has deficiencies in her memory to such a degree she is not a reliable witness. Even Dr. Veronen, who did account for her memory issues and the stroke, admitted some of Appellant's responses could be based on a prior abusive relationship

The circuit court further found Mouzon presented testimony of domestic violence; however, the court also found her testimony lacked credibility. The trial judge noted a number of inconsistencies discredited Mouzon's testimony. Mouzon's testimony was also weakened by the testimony of Lester Harrison in which he contradicted several statements she made during trial. These inconsistencies support the conclusion Mouzon's testimony lacked the credibility necessary to prove a history of domestic violence by a preponderance of the evidence as required by section 16-25-90.

Further, her evidence of two minor instances, even if given credibility by the circuit court, was properly found not to be sufficient to establish a history of domestic abuse under the statute. The two instances, while if true are not condoned, were not of such an egregious nature to justify or mitigate the stabbing of the victim by Appellant. The trial court did not abuse his discretion in finding this evidence failed to meet the burden of demonstrating a history of abuse by a preponderance of the evidence.

The circuit court also found that Dr. Veronen's testimony did not satisfy the preponderance of the evidence standard in order to prove a history of domestic violence at the hands of Dunmore. As mentioned above, Dr. Veronen testified, in her opinion, Appellant was a battered woman. The court found the analysis of Dr. Veronen flawed because she relied, at least in part, on her interviews with Appellant. As noted earlier, Appellant suffers serious memory deficits, so it is unlikely that the version of events she relayed to Dr. Veronen is an accurate portrayal of what happened in this case. The court also took issue with the lack of clarity as to whether Appellant's prior abuse occurred at the hands of Dunmore or Appellant's previous relationship. Dr. Veronen testified her responses consistent with being a battered woman could have related to the prior relationship.

The court noted Dr. Veronen's testimony regarding Appellant's history of domestic violence prior to her relationship with Dunmore does not entitle Appellant to trigger section 16-25-90. The court concluded Dr. Veronen's analysis left inconclusive whether Appellant suffered a history of domestic violence at the hands of Dunmore. As stated by the court, the fact that Appellant has suffered domestic violence at some point in her life does not entitle her to the statutory protections of section 16-25-90.

Taking all the foregoing into consideration, it is evident that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in determining Appellant was not eligible for early parole pursuant to section 16-25-90. The testimony of Appellant and Mouzon was flawed in that it lacked credibility, as it was filled with inconsistencies. The testimony of Dr. Veronen, while credible, failed to establish that Appellant suffered domestic violence at the hands of the victim, Dunmore.

Legislative Intent

The State also submits that application of section 16-25-90 to Appellant's case would run counter to the statute's legislative intent. "The cardinal rule of statutory construction is a court must ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." State v. Scott, 351 S.C. 584, 588, 571 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2002) (citing Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. State Budget and Control Bd., 313 S.C. 1, 437 S.E.2d 6 (1993)).

All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the maxim that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used. A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself.

State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007) (internal citations omitted)

The trial judge noted the intent of the legislature in stating "The intent of section 16-25-90 was to provide early parole for a person who suffered from a history of criminal domestic violence 'at the hands of a household member.'" (Order; R. 650-655). As far as any presence of a "history" of domestic violence in the case, the court noted the short length of time between the alleged domestic violence and the killing (29 days), as well as the lack of severity of the alleged domestic violence, are not sufficient to justify a finding of a "history" of domestic violence. (Order, R. 650-655) The court went on to determine:

In this case, it is clear from the testimony that Ms Robinson is a victim of a history of criminal domestic violence. However, there was not enough credible evidence presented, as stated in this Factual Finding, that shows Ms. Robinson suffered from a history of domestic violence.

(Order; R. 650-655). The trial court's holding properly considered the legislative intent behind the statute. No definition of "history" is provided in the legislation or by our

Courts. The Court in Hawes ruled that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in defining history, however the Court declined to provide insight into what they felt was the appropriate definition of history.³ Hawes, 399 S.C. at 217, 730 S.E.2d at 907.

The clear legislative intent of section 16-25-90 is to provide mitigation of the sentence of someone who committed an offense against their household member after repeatedly suffering domestic violence at the hands of the victim. The statute is not intended to mitigate the sentence of an individual who, as the evidence in this case demonstrated, showed no history of violence in connection with their offense. The Act establishing the section provides evidence of the legislative intent: “To add Section 16-25-90 so as to provide the time which must be served by an inmate who has presented evidence of criminal domestic violence **in connection with their offense.**” 1995 Act No. 7 (emphasis added). The legislative intent of mitigating a sentence of someone who has suffered as the clear victim of domestic violence is frustrated by applying the same statute to someone who makes a very minimal showing of any abuse and no showing their offense was connected to a history of criminal domestic violence.

As the trial Court noted, while Appellant stated she was a victim of criminal domestic violence at some point in the past, Appellant made no showing that Appellant suffered a history of criminal domestic violence at the hands of Dunmore. Appellant’s showing at trial, therefore, is insufficient under section 16-25-90. The legislative intent would be frustrated, and the statute would be abused, by granting early parole eligibility to Appellant.

³ In Hawes, the Court of Appeals noted that at some point in the future, they or the Supreme Court may be required to specifically define a “history” to resolve the conflict before the Court Hawes, 399 S C at 217. The State is currently waiting for a final ruling on the Hawes case from the South Carolina Supreme Court.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed